
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Capital Buildings Board 

 
Date: WEDNESDAY, 15 MARCH 2023 

Time: 9.30 am 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, 2ND FLOOR, WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

 
Members: Deputy Sir Michael Snyder 

(Chairman) 
Oliver Sells KC (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Deputy Edward Lord 
Deputy Keith Bottomley 
Alderman Alison Gowman 
Deputy Christopher Hayward 
Alderman Ian David Luder 
Tom Sleigh 
Deputy James Thomson (Ex-
Officio Member) 
 

Alderman Sir David Wootton 
David Brooks Wilson 
Alderman Timothy Hailes (Ex-Officio 
Member) 
James Tumbridge 
Deputy Randall Anderson 
Deputy Henry Colthurst 
Deputy Henry Pollard (Ex-Officio 
Member) 
Deputy Philip Woodhouse (Ex-Officio 
Member) 
Vacancy 
 

 
 
Enquiries: Chris Rumbles 

tel. no.: 020 7332 1405 
christopher.rumbles@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London 

Corporation by following the below link: 
https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams  

 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of 
the public meeting for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not 
constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the 
City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the 
proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 
 
Whilst we endeavour to livestream all of our public meetings, this is not always possible 
due to technical difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded 
following the end of the meeting. 

 
Ian Thomas 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams


2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 



3 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

 
 

3. MINUTES 
 

 To agree the public minutes and summary of the Capital Buildings Board meeting 
held on 18 January 2023. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 7 - 10) 

 
4. MARKET COLOCATION PROGRAMME - MEMBER WORKING GROUP 

GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 'BARKING REACH GROUP' 
 

 Report of the Chief Operating Officer.   
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 11 - 18) 

 
5. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 

 
 

6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 

7. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 MOTION – That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items, on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of Exempt Information, as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act. 
 

 For Decision 
  

 
Part 2 - Non Public Agenda 

 
8. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 

 To agree the non-public minutes of the Capital Buildings Board meeting held on 18 
January 2023. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 19 - 28) 

 



4 
 

9. MUSEUM OF LONDON RELOCATION PROGRAMME: UPDATE 
 

 Report of the City Surveyor.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 29 - 44) 

 
10. SALISBURY SQUARE DEVELOPMENT - STAGE 5 UPDATE 
 

 Report of the City Surveyor.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 45 - 72) 

 
11. MARKETS CO-LOCATION PROGRAMME - NEW MARKET 
 

 Report of the Chief Operating Officer.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 73 - 76) 

 
12. PROPOSED EASTERN BASE FOR COLP -VACANT POSSESSION STRATEGY - 

PROPOSED VARIATION OF FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO COMMERCIAL 
TENANTS 

 

 Report of the City Surveyor.   
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 77 - 90) 

 
13. MAJOR PROGRAMMES OFFICE - MONTHLY DASHBOARD 
 

 Report of the Chief Operating Officer. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 91 - 92) 

 
14. MAJOR PROJECTS - HIGH LEVEL FORECASTS AND CASH FLOW 
 

 Report  of the Chamberlain.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 93 - 102) 

 
15. DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED AUTHORITY OR URGENCY POWERS 
 

 Report of the Town Clerk.  
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 103 - 106) 

 
16. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

COMMITTEE 



5 
 

 
 

17. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
 

Part 3 - Confidential Agenda 
 
18. MINUTES 
 

 To agree the confidential minutes of the Capital Buildings Board meeting on 18 
January 2023.  
 

 For Decision 
  

 



This page is intentionally left blank



CAPITAL BUILDINGS BOARD 
 

Wednesday, 18 January 2023  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Capital Buildings Board held at the Guildhall EC2 
at 9.30 am 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Deputy Sir Michael Snyder (Chairman) 
Deputy Edward Lord 
Deputy Keith Bottomley 
Alderman Alison Gowman 
Alderman Ian David Luder 
 

Deputy James Thomson (Ex-Officio 
Member) 
Alderman Sir David Wootton 
David Brooks Wilson 
Deputy Henry Colthurst 
Deputy Henry Pollard (Ex-Officio Member) 
 

In Attendance (observing online):  

Oliver Sells 
 

Officers: 
Caroline Al-Beyerty - Chamberlain  

Ola Obadara - City Surveyor’s Department 

Paul Wilkinson - City Surveyor 

Martin O'Regan - City of London Police 

Mark Lowman - City Surveyor’s Department 

Emma Moore - Chief Operating Officer 

Genine Whitehorne - Chief Operating Officer’s Department 

Tim Cutter - City Surveyor’s Department 

Marios Kotsipetsidis - Chief Operating Officer’s Department 

Paul Friend - City Surveyor’s Department 

 
Part 1 - Public Agenda 

 
1. APOLOGIES  

Apologies were received from Tim Hailes, Chris Hayward, Philip Woodhouse and 
Martha Grekos. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
 
The Board noted a standing declaration of David Brooks Wilson in respect of all 
matters concerning Arcadis, Keltbray Group Ltd, The Wilky Group Ltd, Michael 
Squire and Partners, City and Provincial Properties Ltd and Enstar Capital Ltd. 
 

3. MINUTES  
 
a) The public minutes of the Capital Buildings Board meeting on 16th 

November 2022 were agreed as an accurate record.   

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 
4. DEPARTMENT OF THE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER BUSINESS PLANS 

2023/24  
The Board received a report of the Chief Operating Officer (COO) presenting a 
Business Plan for the Department of the Chief Operating Officer for the 2023 / 
24 Financial Year.   
 
A Member, also Chairman of Finance Committee, referred to a point he had 
raised previously in Corporate Services Committee of a need for consistency in 
business plan reporting across the City Corporation to allow for oversight of aims, 
achievements, key performance indicators and risks.  This was an area of 
reporting that needed consistency across the City Corporation.  
 
A Member referred to the Major Project Director and questioned how they would 
fit into Capital Buildings Board.  The Chief Operating Officer responded 
confirming they would be responsible for heading up the Major Programmes 
Office, leading the main team feeding into this Board and in providing assurance 
to Members across a range of key issues on the major programmes. 
 
The Chairman suggested Members note the direction of travel and offer their 
endorsement of Capital Building Board’s part in this.   
 
RESOLVED: That Members: - 
 

• Noted the direction of travel within the Department of the COO and the 
associated transformation planning within the team Business Plans.  

• Approve the Department of the COO Business Plan for 2023/24.  

• Approve the 2023/24 Business Plans for the following COO divisions: 
o Commercial Service  
o Project Governance  

 
5. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE  

There were no questions.  
 

6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
There were no additional items of business.  
 

7. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED: That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items, on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of Exempt Information, as defined in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

Part 2 Non-public Agenda 
 

8. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
 
a) The non-public minutes of the Capital Buildings Board meeting on 16th 

November 2022 were approved as an accurate record.   
 

Page 8



9. FUTURE POLICE ESTATE PORTFOLIO UPDATE  
The Board considered a joint report of the City Surveyor and Commissioner, City 
of London Police relating to the Future Police Estate Portfolio. 
 

10. BARKING REACH POWER STATION - SITE REMEDIATION PROJECT 
AUTHORITY TO START WORK  
The Board received a report of the City Surveyor relating to the Barking Reach 
Power Station – Site Remediation Project.   
 

11. BARKING REACH POWER STATION - SITE REMEDIATION PROJECT 
PROGRESS REPORT  
The Board received a report of the City Surveyor relating to the Barking Reach 
Power Station – Site Remediation Project. 
 

12. MUSEUM OF LONDON RELOCATION PROGRAMME: UPDATE  
The Board received a report of the City Surveyor relating to the Museum of 
London Relocation Programme. 
 

13. SALISBURY SQUARE DEVELOPMENT - STAGE 5 UPDATE  
The Board received a report of the City Surveyor relating to the Salisbury Square 
Development. 
 

14. MIDDLESEX STREET, CAR PARK, MIDDLESEX STREET, E1 7AD - 
PROGRESS REPORT  
The Board received  report of the City Surveyor relating to Middlesex Street Car 
Park, Middlesex Street, E1 7AD. 
 

15. PROPOSED EASTERN BASE FOR CITY OF LONDON POLICE - UPDATE ON 
ENGAGEMENT AND SUPPORT FOR COMMERCIAL TENANTS  
The Board received a report of the City Surveyor relating to a Proposed Eastern 
Base for City of London Police – update on engagement and support for 
commercial tenants. 
 

16. REPORT OF ACTION TAKEN  
The Board received a report of the Town Clerk updating on decisions taken 
between meetings in accordance with Standing Order 41(a) and 41(b). 
 

17. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE COMMITTEE  
There were none.  
 

18. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were no additional items of business. 
 

Part 3 - Confidential Agenda 
 

19. MARKETS CO-LOCATION PROGRAMME: FUTURE RESOURCING AND 
FUNDING  

Page 9



The Board considered a confidential report of the Chief Operating Officer relating 
to Markets Co-Location Programme: Future Resourcing and Funding.   
 

 
 
The meeting closed at 10.57am. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Chris Rumbles 
tel. no.: 020 7332 1405 
christopher.rumbles@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 10



 

 

Committee(s): Capital Buildings Board 
 

Dated: 15 March 2023 
 

Subject: Market Colocation Programme – Member 
Working Group Governance Arrangements ‘Barking 
Reach Group’ 

Public 
 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending?  
 

No 

What is the source of Funding?  
 

N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 
 

N/A 

Report of: Emma Moore, Chief Operating Officer  
 

For Approval  

Report authors: Genine Whitehorne, Project 
Governance Director 

 
 

Summary 
 

This report sets out proposed options around governance arrangements to assist with 
the development of the Barking Reach site; namely, the creation of an Informal 
Working Group of the Capital Buildings Board. The arrangements set out follow 
decisions of the Capital Buildings Board in January 2023 which were subsequently 
reported to the Policy & Resources Committee meeting also in January 2023 and, in 
short, proposes a series of delegations to the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) who 
would have authority to act, with the Working Group acting as a ‘sounding board’ of 
sorts. This would enable the SRO to continue to make decisions at-pace, as required 
to keep the programme progressing efficiently, whilst still benefitting from ongoing 
Member feedback and direction. 
 

Recommendation(s) 

Members are asked to:- 

1. Endorse the arrangements presented in respect of the Barking Reach Group 
(BRG), operating as an informal Working Group of the Capital Buildings Board 
and supporting the SRO in the exercise of authorisations granted by the Board. 

2. Grant authority to the SRO to make decisions up to certain thresholds and to act 
in areas as defined by the Board (noting that decisions above those thresholds 
remain subject to formal consideration by CBB) and in line with the table set out 
at paragraph 18. 

3. Approve the proposed Terms of Reference for the BRG as set out at Appendix A. 
 

  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

 

MAIN REPORT 

 
Background 

1. The Markets Co-location Programme (MCP) represents a unique opportunity for 
the City of London Corporation to impact the lives and economic wellbeing of 
Londoners in one of the capital’s most disadvantaged areas.   Seizing this 
opportunity will require agile decision making and innovative thinking in order to 
develop a commercial model that delivers the social and added value promised, 
whilst protecting the City Corporation’s financial position. 

 
2. The Capital Buildings Board has responsibility for the delivery of this programme, 

as determined by the Court of Common Council and pursuant to the usual rules 
governing major projects. 

 
3. The Chairman of the Policy and Resources Committee , having discussed the 

matter with the Chairman of the Capital Buildings Board,  proposed at the 
December 2022 meeting of his Committee the establishment of a focussed 
informal group of elected Members, to help provide strategic oversight and 
direction to the Markets relocation programme at the Barking Reach site.  This 
proposal was considered and agreed by the Capital Buildings Board at their 
meeting on 18 January 2023.  At that meeting, it was also agreed that this group 
would be called the Barking Reach Group (BRG).  This smaller grouping would 
allow for more responsive political leadership, working with the appointed Senior 
Responsible Officer (SRO) to manage the complexities of the programme and 
enable agile decision making.  It would also provide a pre-existing vehicle for any 
external representation that may be required in the future. 

 
4. Both CBB and P&R had endorsed the suggestion of Keith Bottomley as the 

Chairman of this new Group. The Group would also comprise a representative 
of Finance Committee (Henry Colthurst), a representative of Policy and 
Resources Committee (Andrien Meyers), and the Chairman and Deputy 
Chairman of the Markets Board (ex-officio).  The Capital Buildings Board had 
also indicated its intention to appoint David Brooks-Wilson, given his specific 
industry knowledge, and the Group would have the power to co-opt two additional 
external Members with specific knowledge.   

 
5. The Barking Reach Group would have no decision-making powers itself; 

however, it would provide an essential steer to the SRO and in shaping 
recommendations to the Capital Buildings Board, providing the latter with 
reassurance that officers were acting in accordance with the overall wishes and 
direction of the CBB. It had also been confirmed that work was ongoing looking 
at an appropriate level of delegations to the Senior Responsible Officer that 
would allow for approvals guided by the Barking Reach Group. 

 
Options and Authority to Act 

6. The options for governance arrangements have been considered in consultation 
with the proposed Chairman of the new Group and in keeping with the 
parameters previously endorsed by both this Board and the Policy & Resources 
Committee (i.e., an informal group without decision-making powers). 

 

Page 12



 

 

7. A key point of consideration has been the agility of decision-making that may be 
required and the appropriate of authority granted to the SRO as a result, to 
enable them to act swiftly as required, whilst also maintaining an appropriate 
balance of decision-making, oversight and scrutiny for Members. 

 
8. One option examined was the “traditional” model of having the informal Working 

Group discuss items in detail to inform the SRO’s subsequent recommendations 
to the Capital Buildings Board (CBB), i.e., with no delegations to the SRO. This 
would ensure that all decision-making remained with Members whilst still 
facilitating extra scrutiny by an informal group of dedicated Members as 
proposals were being prepared for CBB.  

 
9. However, there would be a number of potential disbenefits to this approach; for 

instance, the potential to slow down decision-making through the creation of 
another layer of process whilst still requiring all decisions to be ultimately 
funnelled through CBB. This would seem to be inconsistent with the principles 
underlying the desire to create the informal Group, in terms of providing flexibility, 
agility and pace to decision-making. The option would also fail to address allied 
concerns regarding the capacity of CBB to engage in all detailed discussions 
regarding the programme (in particular affordability and investment, or a series 
of minor issues which would not necessarily warrant detailed debate), alongside 
CBB’s other responsibilities. 

 
10. The secondary option, considered and recommended for adoption, is for the 

SRO to be authorised by CBB to take decisions up to certain thresholds, acting 
in consultation with, and with the support and guidance of, the Barking Reach 
Group. Items above the thresholds set would be subject to referral onwards to 
CBB for decision-making in the usual way, thereby providing for a sensible and 
pragmatic split of business and prioritisation of Member focus. 

 
11. This would provide CBB with greater time and opportunity to focus in-depth on 

key decisions, whilst also providing for pace and agility in respect of lower level 
decision-making, by empowering the SRO to make decisions in certain areas. 
This officer delegation would be enhanced and supplemented by the role of the 
Barking Reach Group, providing for ongoing Member oversight and guidance, to 
help ensure the SRO has the support and advice needed (whilst also reassuring 
Members that the SRO role functions effectively).  

 
12. The second of the options is recommended for consideration by Members.  The 

Capital Buildings Board (CBB) will retain overarching responsibility for oversight 
and delivery of the programme but, through a smaller group of Members, more 
active participation for detailed discussions and scrutiny of decisions will be 
enabled, providing assurance to CBB.  As such, this option ensures effective 
Member oversight and leadership whilst providing clear and approved 
governance to enable agile decision making through the SRO. It should be noted 
that amendments to the Financial Regulations may be required in order to give 
effect to some of these changes. 

 
13. The proposed BRG Terms of Reference are attached at Appendix A.  
 

Page 13



 

 

Practical implications of the recommended approach 
 
The role of the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) 
14. The responsibilities of the SRO have been set out in the ‘Role of the Senior 

Responsible Officer in the City of London Corporation Major Programmes’ 
document, which was approved by the Capital Buildings Board and, under 
urgency, by the Court of Common Council as part of the MCP Resourcing Paper 
in January 2023.  This paper also established Emma Moore, Chief Operating 
Officer, as the SRO for this programme.  In this document, the responsibility of 
the SRO is summarised as: 

• the owner of the programme’s business case, the primary risk owner, and 
accountable for ensuring that the programme meets its objectives, delivers the 
required outcomes and realises the required benefits;  

• accountable for ensuring that the programme has in place a governance and 
assurance regime that is effective, proportionate and appropriate. This will 
enable the programme to deliver successfully and allow them to discharge 
their duties in terms of accountability.   

 
15. The SRO of any Corporation major programme remains accountable and 

responsible to CBB.  In the proposed model, the BRG will work closely with the 
SRO for the development of the Barking Reach site and allow Members greater 
assurance that the role is functioning effectively. 

 
Proposed levels of authority 
16. It is proposed that CBB delegate appropriate levels of decision-making authority 

to the SRO, in consultation with the BRG. Consistent with the principles of 
delegation, the CBB is only able to authorise the SRO to act with the powers and 
remit already delegated to it by the Court. 

 
17. For the sake of completeness, the CBB Terms of Reference set out the 

responsibilities of the sub-Committee as below: 
 

In respect of major capital building projects which have been approved in 
principle by the Court of Common Council and are being directly delivered by the 
City of London Corporation, to be responsible for (without recourse to any other 
Committee):- 

a) overall direction and co-ordination;  

b) financial control and variances within the overall approved budget for the 

project;  

c) review of progress;  

d) decisions on significant option development and key policy choices; and  

e) decisions in relation to the acquisition and disposal of properties related to 

the project, including disposal or alternative use of current operational 

properties to be vacated on completion of the project. Such properties, 

upon the approval of the capital building project, shall sit outside of the 

normal Standing Orders (53-60) governing acquisitions and disposals.‡  

 

Page 14



 

 

18. The table below sets out which of the above responsibilities are proposed for 
delegation to the SRO in respect of the Barking Reach site: 

 

CBB TOR 
responsibility 

Delegation to SRO in 
consultation with the BRG   

Reserved to CBB  

A • Day-to-day ownership of 
the Programme Plan and 
approved milestones 

• Appointment of resources 
in support of the delivery of 
the programme (including 
professional services in line 
with B below) 

• Initial approval of the 
Programme Plan and 
milestones 

B • Monitoring of programme 
budget 

• Release of monies at 
approved milestones in the 
project plan 

• Award of contracts up to 
the level permitted under 
the Officer Delegation 
threshold, i.e., up to £2m  

• To remain in line with any 
future changes to the 
thresholds agreed for 
officer delegation under 
relevant corporate 
governance framework 
documents, e.g., Standing 
Orders, Scheme of 
Delegations, Financial 
Regulations, Procurement 
Regulations, Project 
Procedure. 

• CBB to receive regular 
budget monitoring reports 

• Variances of >5% must be 
reported to CBB and 
approval sought 

• Award of contracts over the 
level permitted under 
Officer Delegation threshold  

C • Review of progress against 
programme plan 

• Exception reporting of key 
risks and issues to CBB 

D • Initial consideration of 
questions around strategic 
direction and commercial 
viability of the Barking 
Reach site and the Markets 
moving to that site 

• Final decision-making 
regarding the strategic 
direction and commercial 
viability of the Barking 
Reach site and the Markets 
moving to that site 

• Final approval of the 
proposed commercial 
model 

 
19. The levels of delegation set out in the table above are intended to enable 

effective operational decision making whilst remaining in line with comparable 
delegations elsewhere in the Corporation. 

Page 15



 

 

 
20. For the sake of clarity, the above places the threshold for expenditure which 

can be approved by the SRO in the form of contract awards / variations / 
extensions at £2,000,000. This figure is consistent with the threshold set within 
the Procurement Code (sections 16.2, 30.2 and 30.4) at which the Operational 
Property & Projects Sub Committee’s approval would normally be sought, i.e., it 
echoes existing arrangements in respect of delegations to officers in other 
areas. 

 
21. Given the complex nature of the existing market sites, it is proposed that 

responsibility for acquisition and disposal of properties (responsibility ‘e’ of the 
CBB TOR) is approached as set out below: 

 
Disposal of the existing sites: 

• The development of options for the disposal of the existing sites will be 
reserved to CBB 

• The decision regarding future use and determination of a purchaser/partner 
for Smithfield will be reserved to P&R  

 
Management of disposals: 

• Oversight and management of the logistics to decant current tenants 
(including any further tenant negotiations) will be delegated to SRO in 
consultation with BRG 

• Handover to future owner/controller of site will be delegated to SRO in 
consultation with BRG 

• Oversight and coordination of any joint venture process will be reserved to 
CBB 
 
(NB - the Policy & Resources Committee, as specified by the ToRs, 
reserves the right to retain ultimate decision-making powers in respect of 
properties where the disposal is considered to have significant strategic or 
policy implications.) 

 
22. It will be required that a summary of all decisions taken by the SRO will be 

reported to CBB at regular intervals, in a similar fashion to the Town Clerk’s 
report of actions taken between meetings. CBB also reserves the right to request 
updates and/or review of programme activity as required and, consistent with its 
constitutional status, can revoke, extend or vary the delegation arrangements at 
any time. 

 
23. The proposed delegations do not affect the democratic process or public 

scrutiny.  The Court of Common Council remains sovereign and any decisions 
would be subject to call-in in the usual way. 

 
Changes required 
 
24. Updates to Financial Regulations and Scheme of Delegations may be required 

in order to facilitate the changes set out in the table above.  Such changes as 
may be required will be completed as part of the annual review process due to 
be finalised early in the new civic year.  

Page 16



 

 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 
 

• Strategic implications – the proposals set out in this paper support the 
Corporation’s priority to successfully delivering the new markets at Dagenham 
Dock (the Barking Reach site)  The proposals strengthen the reporting and 
leadership arrangements for the Corporation’s largest major programme and 
embeds a more professional approach to the role of the Senior Responsible 
Officer.  
 

• Financial implications – the proposals set out in the paper have no financial 
implications.  However, the Group will play an important role in shaping and 
securing a financial arrangement for the MCP that ensures affordability of the 
programme. 

 

• Risk implications – capital programme affordability is a key issue for the 
Corporation.  The establishment of this group is a direct response to the need to 
develop a finance/investment strategy that delivers a commercially viable market 
at the Barking Reach site.  This group will actively manage this risk and lead the 
development of the mitigation strategy. 

 

• Resource implications – the Group will be supported by the major programmes 
PMO.  Additional PMO capacity was agreed by CBB in January 2023 as part of the 
approval of the MCP resource budget.  Recruitment to these new roles is now 
underway. 

 

• Equalities implications – there are no equalities implications as a result of the 
proposals set out in this paper. 

 

• Climate Implications – the MCP will deliver significant sustainability benefits for the 
Corporation through the modernisation of market premises and operations.  This 
is an important element of the programme delivery plan which will be closely 
monitored by the SRO. 

 

• Security implications – there are no security implications as a result of the 
proposals set out in this paper. 
 

Conclusion 
25. The Board is asked to endorse the proposed approach in respect of oversight of 

the MCP, with the SRO empowered to act up to certain limits with the support 
and oversight of the informal Barking Reach Group. Decisions taken in 
accordance with this arrangement will be reported to Capital Buildings Board, 
which shall retain overall responsibility and to whom the SRO is answerable; the 
CBB shall also reserve decision-making above the thresholds set out above.  

 
Appendices 
Appendix A – BRG Terms of Reference 
 
Genine Whitehorne 

Project Governance Director 

E:  genine.whitehorne@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

Page 17

mailto:genine.whitehorne@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Appendix A 

 

 
BRG Terms of Reference and proposed membership 
 
The Barking Reach Group will act as a steering group of Members and external 
experts (as required), providing oversight of the development and delivery of the 
Markets Co-location Project.   The Group will work closely with the programme SRO 
to shape the vision for the future markets and oversee the development of a 
commercially viable financing strategy.  The Group will provide insight and expertise 
to the SRO acting as an internal forum for the testing of ideas and prioritisation for 
the strategy.  Activities of the group may include;  

• Managing relationships with programme stakeholders (with the exception of 
LB Tower Hamlets which will be led by CBB as part of the development of the 
site disposal strategy) 

• Management of land assembly activity at Barking Reach to complete the 
market site as set out in the business case in conjunction with CBB 

• Undertaking research to identify instances and opportunities for industry best 
practice and commercial return; 

• Scrutinising progress of the workstreams and contracting approach; 

• Setting the strategic direction within the parameters of the programme; 

• Promoting the MCP programme’s benefits and opportunities; 

• Engaging with potential partners and stakeholders; 

• Setting the parameters, assessing and participating in negotiations with 
funding partners and other strategic partners. 

 
In addition, the Group will support CBB by providing assurance to the sub-
Committee regarding the role and the performance of the SRO in regard to the MCP.  
The Group will provide challenge and scrutiny of programme delivery and receive 
regular progress and financial performance updates from the SRO. 
 
The proposed membership of the Group is set out below: 

• Chair – appointed by CBB – Deputy Keith Bottomley (Deputy Chairman, 
Policy and Resources Committee 

• Policy and Resources representative – Andrien Meyers (Chairman, Property 
Investment Board/Finance Investment Board) 

• Finance Committee Representative – Deputy Henry Colthurst (Chairman, 
Finance Committee) 

• Chairman, Markets Board, Henry Pollard 

• Deputy Chairman, Markets Board, Philip Woodhouse 

• CBB representative - David Brooks-Wilson  

• Up to 2 external representatives with relevant knowledge and experience 
 
The group will meet, at a minimum, on a monthly basis.  (Ad-hoc meetings will be 
called as required to deliver programme objectives.) 
 
The TOR and the membership of the BRG will be reviewed by CBB on an annual 
basis. 
 

Page 18



Document is Restricted

Page 19

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 29

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 45

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 55

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 73

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 77

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 85

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 87

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 91

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 93

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 97

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 103

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Market Colocation Programme - Member Working Group Governance Arrangements 'Barking Reach Group'
	8 Non-Public Minutes
	9 Museum of London Relocation Programme: Update
	10 Salisbury Square Development - Stage 5 update
	FEI SSD presentation 23.02.23 pdf

	11 Markets Co-location Programme - New Market
	12 Proposed Eastern Base for CoLP -Vacant Possession Strategy - proposed variation of financial assistance to commercial tenants
	Appendix 1 Summary of Tenant Engagement
	Appendix 2 - Revised Demise

	13 Major Programmes Office - Monthly Dashboard
	14 Major Projects - high level forecasts and cash flow
	Finance Slides for P&R & FC FINAL

	15 Decisions taken under delegated authority or urgency powers

